FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON als
12/20/2021vision I
BY ERINStateNNONnington
CLERK 2021 4:56 PM

100501-6 No. [unassigned]

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Cosentino, Sarah
Respondent
v.
Mitchell, John
Petitioner

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DESCISION TERMINATING REVIEW

John Mitchell pro se

#

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

John Mitchell asks this court to accept review of the decisions designated in Part B of this motion.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Pursuant to RAP 13.5 Mitchell seeks review of the November 18, 2021 Court of Appeals order denying a motion to modify the August 25, 2021 Court of Appeals order dismissing an appeal of the Superior Court order on contempt.

A copy of the decision is in Appendix A and a copy of the order denying the motion to modify is in Appendix B.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals violate the Rules of Appellate Procedure? If so, does this constitute a conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals violate Mitchell's constitutional right to appellate review? If so, is it a significant question of law under the constitution?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals violate Mitchell's constitutional right to equal protection when it dismissed his appeal due to reasons of indigency? If so, is it a significant question of law under the constitution?

#### D. STATEMENT OF CASE

This petition for review rises out of an appeal of a King County Superior Court order finding Mitchell in contempt of court for violating of a domestic violence protection order. Protection order proceedings were designed to give victims quick and easy access

Motion for Discretionary Review - 1

to the courts; in doing so, the courts have also given abusers quick and easy access to an entire arsenal of instruments to inflict terror on their victims.

A petitioner-abuser who is granted a protection order entered against a respondent-victim gains an unprecedented level of power over their victim. When the courts fail to ensure the rights of the respondent are protected, the petitioner-abuser is able to devastate the life of their victim. This inherent risk makes the role of supervisory courts essential to ensuring justice for the victim and maintaining the integrity of the courts.

Mitchell has not committed any acts of violence, physical or otherwise; Cosentino's alleged basis for the protection order was harassment. The root of the underlying action – both the protection order and the contempt order – is based entirely on speech. Mitchell has talked openly about his relationship with Cosentino and the abuse he experienced; Mitchell has made no attempt to contact, communicate with, or have anything to do with Cosentino since the beginning of the underlying action – Cosentino wants to punish Mitchell for speaking truthfully about their former relationship. The court's basis for contempt is deeply constitutionally flawed and facially untenable. (See Order on Contempt)

The unusual procedural history of this case should be a signal to the court that something is seriously wrong. So far the trial courts have awarded Cosentino over \$200,000 in sanctions and attorney's fees despite Mitchell being indigent and Cosentino having a net worth of well over \$2,000,000. There are 221 documents in the court docket. Mitchell has filed three motions for revision and have prevailed in two; the third was lost because the court used improper covid emergency court rules to deny Mitchell his right to be heard on revision.

Motion for Discretionary Review - 2

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)

#### 1. The Court of Appeals violated the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

The decision of the Court of Appeals to dismiss Mitchell's appeal conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision via *State v. Ashbaugh*<sup>1</sup>. In *Ashbaugh*, this court explained how appellate rules apply to an appellant's failure to timely act:

Rather, [RAP] provides that an appellant "should" take certain steps and "must" take others. When an appellant fails to do that which he "should," the appellate court has wide discretion in fashioning a sanction. This will usually be a fine or compensatory award. RAP 1.2(b); 18.9. When an appellant fails to do that which he "must," the failure either (1) is governed by the terms of RAP 18.8(b), or else it (2) "may result in more severe than usual sanctions." RAP 1.2(b).

The Court of Appeals in *Ashbaugh* dismissed the appeal based on the appellant's failure to timely act on that which he *must*. Since the failure was not included in the narrowly defined grounds for dismissal defined in RAP 18.8(b), this court concluded that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Ashbaugh, 90 Wn.2d 432, 583 P.2d 1206 (1978)

the failure was subject to RAP 1.2(b) and "simply 'may result in more severe than usual sanctions' Typical sanctions are a fine or compensatory award." *Id* 

The *Ashbaugh* court held that the rules expressly prohibit dismissing a case based on noncompliance with rules, except in compelling circumstances where justice demands.

Furthermore, the rules explicitly state that "Cases ... will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with these rules except in compelling circumstances where justice demands ..."

Unlike *Ashbaugh*, the lower court in this case dismissed the appeal based on Mitchell's failed to timely file a designation of clerk's papers. An appellant *should* file a designation of clerk's papers within 30 days. RAP 9.6(a) This failure should be subject to even less severe sanctions.

When the lower court does have a compelling circumstance where justice demands dismissal of a case prior to reaching the merits, appellate rules allow a case to be dismissed on either 1) on motion of commissioner or clerk; or 2) on motion of a party. Neither the court nor any party filed a motion, there was no 10-day notice given, there were no hearings held to establish a high bar of compelling circumstances.

#### 2. The Court of Appeals violated Mitchell's constitutional right to appeal.

The *Ashbaugh* court also considered the contention that petitioner "abandoned" his appeal and therefore the motion of dismissal was properly granted pursuant to the contention that the appellant "abandoned" his appeal and dismissal would be proper under RAP 18.9(c)(1). The record showed that the appellant took no action on his appeal for four and a half months. Mitchell's appeal was also dismissed as "abandoned", though only 2 months had passed.

The *Ashbaugh* court again was unable to uphold the dismissal based on these grounds. The court held that appellate rules provide no specific guidance as to when an appellant has abandoned his appeal; however, under older rules the higher court held that "a motion to dismiss for want of prosecution rests within the sound discretion of the court hearing the motion" (citing Hamilton v. Kiona-Benton Irrigation Dist., 44 Wn.2d 421, 268 P.2d 446 (1954)).

It must be remembered, however, that the right to appeal is a constitutional right. Consequently, any waiver of that right via the alleged abandonment of an appeal must be knowing, intelligent and voluntary. State v. Adams, 76 Wn.2d 650, 458 P.2d 558 (1969).

Mitchell did not knowingly, intelligently, nor voluntarily waive his constitutional right to appeal. The lower court provided no facts or findings that could allow this court to determine that Mitchell did waive his right; however, Mitchell did explain the reasonable mitigating circumstances and this Court can review those circumstances to determine that Mitchell did not, as a matter or fact, abandon his appeal. (See Motion to Modify, and Motion to Modify Reply)

#### 3. The Court of Appeals dismissed the case for reasons of indigency

"[t]here can be no equal justice where the kind of trial a man gets depends on the amount of money he has." Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 76 S.Ct. 585, 100 L.Ed. 891 (1956)

Mitchell is indigent. Mitchell has no income, has been unemployed for a year and a half, and qualifies for public assistance. On the trial court's order, Mitchell was represented by a public defender. There is no question as to whether Mitchell is indigent. Mitchell has explained that he cannot afford the fees associated with the designation of

clerk's papers or statement of arrangements (See Motion to Modify, Motion to Modify Reply, and Letter to Clerk)

Mitchell has also moved for an order of indigency in the trial court, however the trial court has refused to make a ruling on the motion. Without that ruling, Mitchell does not even have access to most of the trial court documents and has no way of determining which documents to designate should he be forced to continue representing himself.

Cosentino, with the help of the courts, has destroyed Mitchell's career. The trial court granted Cosentino a protection order that prohibited Mitchell from having any contact with "any of Cosentino's friends" – one of whom Mitchell reported to and worked closely with at Microsoft. As could be expected from being prohibited from contact with your boss, Mitchell was eventually let go. After a 20+ year career with no employment gaps, I have been unemployed for a year and a half. Now the court wants to deny Mitchell's constitutional right to appellate review.

#### F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons within, Mitchell requests that this court grant review of the Court of Appeals dismissal of his appeal.