FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/9/2022 9:01 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100501-6

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SARAH COSENTINO,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN MITCHELL,

Petitioner.

Response of Sarah Cosentino on John Mitchell's Petition for Review

Brian Edwards, WSBA No. 45232 Attorney for Respondent Sarah Cosentino

MCKINLEY IRVIN 1501 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1750 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 625-9600

B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF FACTS

It should be noted from the outset that Mr. Mitchell is an adjudicated domestic violence perpetrator. This fact has been litigated up and down, and this very Court has previously refused to take up his request for review – a request that he abandoned when he failed to even bother to attend the hearing set by the Court.

Given that he refuses to acknowledge the legitimacy or authority of the Court, Mr. Mitchell has continuously failed to abide by the orders of the Courts. This is what led to the finding of contempt against him when he refused to abide by the provisions prohibiting him from operating websites for the purposes of harassing Ms. Cosentino. That contempt finding was the reason that the lower court ordered a \$500 per day sanction for each day that the websites he operated remained up.

While Mr. Mitchell pleads indigency, he takes no actual steps to make findings of indigency or remedy his perceived failure of the Court to address his request for a finding of indigency. This is despite the fact that he has sought to redress every single other perceived slight that he believes the courts have perpetrated on him.

On the instant action, at the Court of Appeals below, Mr. Mitchell first complained that he was unaware that the case could be dismissed by claiming that he did not receive the June 25th letter stating the same. This strained credulity then and should continue to do so now. Mr. Mitchell routinely received and responded to documents and requests from this Court up until the time that he abandoned his instant action. He made no attempt to remedy deficiencies when the Court issues similar letters on May 12, 2021, April 20, 2021, or March 18, 2021. Mr. Mitchell did nothing and intended to do nothing. His entire purpose in each of these filings is based in his desire to harass Ms. Cosentino – the very thing that the underlying DVPO seeks to prevent.

Mr. Mitchell's previous appeal to the Court of Appeals involved an interlocutory appeal of the actual DVPO. His previous

appeal was denied. He filed numerous reconsideration motions. He then sought review by this Court. As with the instant action, he failed to follow through on deadlines and then failed to attend a hearing before the Supreme Court Commissioner, so that request for cert was denied as abandoned. Throughout all of this, Mr. Mitchell has done the bare minimum to drag proceedings on while forcing Ms. Cosentino to incur attorney's fees the entire time.

Mr. Mitchell has also never provided the Court with proof of unemployment or an inability to work if he is not working. He was previously employed by Microsoft, and there have been no stated reasons why he could not obtain a similar job at an equivalent company.

Mr. Mitchell is the very picture of a vexatious litigant and an abuser. This motion, like the myriad of others he has filed between the Superior Court, the Court of Appeals and this Court should be denied. Ms. Cosentino should be awarded reasonable attorney's fees.

C. ARGUMENT WHY MOTION SHOULD BE DENIED AND FOR COSTS AND FEES

As set forth above, Mr. Mitchell has provided no cognizable reason for his intransigent failure to make even bare responses on his

appeal. This has become a pattern, and especially when the underlying cause is a DVPO in which Mr. Mitchell was found to be an abuser of Ms. Cosentino, the Court should not allow abuse to continue through intransigent baseless litigation. While he makes statements about the *should* language of *Ashbaugh*, those arguments ignore the totality of Mitchell's record of abusive litigation. His actions to drag the litigation on and on endlessly are not driven by excusable neglect or incompetence. His actions are driven by the desire to continue to abuse Ms. Cosentino in the only way remaining to him – litigation. When viewed in light of the history, the Court of Appeals' dismissal was both reasonable and warranted. Mr. Mitchell was given every opportunity to keep his frivolous lawsuit afloat, but he elected not to.

We again note that RAP 14.2 permits the substantially prevailing party to recover costs. This should be no more true than in cases originating under RCW 26.50. Fees and costs are expressly considered under RCW 26.50.060. Ms. Cosentino has been forced to endure substantial (and often unnecessary) litigation from Mr. Mitchell. She was awarded fees below and should be awarded fees at this juncture as well.

D. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, Ms. Cosentino respectfully requests the Court deny Mr. Mitchell's Petition for Review and requests she be awarded her necessary and reasonable costs.